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Violations:

18 U.S.C. § 371 (Conspiracy to Violatc
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act)
18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) (Money

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

k]

Plaintiff, : Laundering Conspiracy)
: 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2)(A)
: (Money Laundering)

V. :

JASON EDWARD STEPH, :
Defendant. :
X
INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times relevant to this Indictment (unless otherwise stated):

1. The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (“FCPA”), as amended, Title 15,

United States Code, Sections 78dd-1, ef seq.. was enacted by Congress for the purpose of, among
other things, making it unlawful for certain classes of persons and entities to act corruptly in
furtherance of an offer, promise, authorization or payment of money or anything of value to a

foreign government official or political party for the purpose of securing any improper advantage.



.

or of assisting in obtaining or retaining business for, or directing business to, any person.

Relevant Entities

2. The Federal Republic of Nigeria (“Nigeria”) was a sovereign African nation with
substantial deposits of oil and gas within its territory, both on land and offshore in the Ni ger
Delta region. A political party referred to in this Indictment as the Political Party ("PP™) has
been the dominant political party in Nigeria from 1999 to the present.

3. The Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (“NNPC™) was a government-
owned company charged with the development of Nigeria’s oil and gas wealth and regulation of
the country’s oil and gas industry, and was the majority sharcholder in certain joint ventures with
various multinational oil companies. National Petroleum Investment Management Services
(“NAPIMS”) was a subsidiary of NNPC that, among other things, oversaw Nigeria’s investments
in the joint ventures and other development projects. The NNPC and NAPIMS were entities and
instrumentalities of the Government of Nigeria, within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. Sections 78dd-
1(H)(1)(A) and 78dd-2(h)(2)(A). Shell Petroleum Development Co. ol'Nigeria, Ltd. (“SPDC™)
was the operator of a joint venture among NNPC (55%), SPDC (30%). and two forcign oil
companies, TOTAL (10%) and Agip Oil (5%) (the “Joint Venture™).

Willbros Group, Inc. and Certain of its Operations in Nigeria

4. Willbros Group, Inc. (“WGI”) was a corporation organized under the laws of the
Republic of Panama in 1975 (WGI's predecessor companies date back to 1908), and having its
principal place of business in Tulsa, Oklahoma (until 2000) and Houston, Texas (2000 to the
present). WGI provided construction, engineering and other services in the oil and gas industry,

and conducted international operations through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Willbros



International Inc. (““WII”"), a Panamanian corporation which also maintained its principal place of
business in Tulsa, Oklahoma and, beginning in 2000, Houston, Texas. WGI, a public company
since 1996 whose shares traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “WG”, was
an “issuer’ as that term is used in the FCPA (15 U.S.C. Section 78dd-1(a)). In addition. because
the principal places of business of WGI and WII were in the United States, WGI and WII were
“domestic concerns” under the FCPA (15 U.S.C. Section 78dd-2(h)(1)(B)).

5. Until sale of its assets in Nigeria in early 2007. WGI conducted business in
Nigeria for over forty years. Three WGI subsidiaries which conducted WGI's Nigerian business
were Willbros West Africa. Inc. (“WWA™), Willbros Nigeria Ltd. (“WNL"), and Willbros
Offshore Nigeria Ltd. (“WONL?”) (collectively referred to herein as the “Willbros Nigerian
Subsidiaries”).

6. The Willbros Nigerian Subsidiaries performed work on certain Joint Venture and
other Nigerian oil and gas projects from the 1990s through 2005. Among the many projects in
which one or more of the Willbros Nigerian Subsidiaries participated was the Eastern Gas
Gathering System (“EGGS”) project, a natural gas pipeline system in the Niger Delta designed to
relieve existing pipeline capacity constraints. On certain Nigerian projects, including EGGS, one
or more of the Willbros Nigerian Subsidiaries partnered with a German construction company
(“GCCB?), a subsidiary or affiliate of a multinational construction services company based in
Mannheim, Germany.

7. The EGGS project, which was divided into two phases. contemplated the
construction of a major natural gas pipeline system through remote, swampy and otherwise

difficult terrain in the Niger Delta. Phase | involved engineering, procurement and construction



(known as “EPC”) of a pipeline from the Soku Gas Plant to the Bonny Island Liguitied Natural
Gas Plant. EGGS Phase 1 included an optional scope of work (known as “"EGGS Coating™) for
the application of a Polyethylene-concrete coating to the EGGS Phase | pipeline to give it
sufficient weight and protection. EGGS Phase 2 was another optional scope of work within the
EGGS Phase 1 proposal, and contemplated the construction of a pipeline from an area known as
the “Gbaran/Ubie node” to Soku.

The Defendant and Other Relevant Individuals

8. Defendant STEPH was a United States citizen and employee of WII. WII
employed STEPH from in or about 1998 to April 2005, when he resigned. STEPH held the
position of General Manager — Onshore in Nigeria from 2002 to April 2005, Because STEPH is
a United States citizen and was an employee and agent of WII and WGL. STEPH was a (U nied
States person,” a “domestic concern,” an employee and agent of a domestic concern, and an
agent of an issuer, under 15 U.S.C. Sections 78dd-2(i)(2), 78dd-2(h)(1)(A), 78dd-2(a). 78dd-2(i)
and 78dd-1(a), respectively.

9. Co-conspirator Jim Bob Brown (“Brown”) was employed by WII from at least
1990 through April 2005, when he was terminated for cause. For the majority of his career with
WIIL, Brown worked on international projects in Nigeria and South America. Specifically, Brown
worked in Nigeria as a Cost Engineer (1990 — 1992), Administrative Manager (1992 - 1997) and
Division Manager (1997 — August 2000). In August 2000, he was transferred to Venezuela as
Managing Director of Constructor CAMSA, C.A.. a WII subsidiary, where he worked until he

was transferred back to Nigeria as Managing Director in or around November 2004.



10. An unnamed co-conspirator, hereinafter referred to as Doe 1, was a United States
citizen and employee of WII from the 1980°s through March 2002. From April 2002 until his
resignation in January 2005, Doe 1 was an employee of another WGI subsidiary known as
Willbros USA, Inc. (“WUSA”), which conducted construction, engineering and facilitics
development operations in the United States and Canada. In 1995, Doe 1 became Managing
Director of WNL. In 2002 and 2003, WGI promoted Doe 1 to senior executive positions within
WII and WUSA, and he maintained an office in Houston, Texas.

11. An unnamed co-conspirator, hereinafter referred to as Consultant 1, was a citizen
of the United States whose employment included representation of purported consulting
companies operating in Nigeria known as Company S and Company F. Companies S and F
entered into contracts with WWA in which they purported to perform legitimate consulting
services, but in truth acted as conduits for corrupt payments to foreign officials in Nigeria
authorized by Doe 1, defendant STEPH and others.

12. An unnamed co-conspirator, hereinafter referred to as Consultant 2. was a
Nigerian national who performed purported consulting services for one or more of the Willbros
Nigerian Subsidiaries. In and around 2004, Consultant 2 worked in coordination with Consultant
1 in offering and making corrupt payments to Nigerian officials. In 2005, Consultant 2 continued
in that role, although he no longer worked with Consultant 1.

13. Unnamed co-conspirators, hereinafter referred to as GCCB Employees 1 and 2.
were German nationals who worked for GCCB in Nigeria, and whose responsibilities included

the EGGS project.
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14. A Canadian national, hereinafter referred to as “CN,” was a Canadian national
who was employed by WII and worked in Ni geria from 1993 to 1995, and from at least 1998
through May 2005. CN worked as Administrator and General Manager — Finance for WII, and
executed WWA’s contract with Company F dated April 4, 2003.

15. The intended recipients of the corrupt payments were officials of the Government
of Nigeria, instrumentalities thereof, and those acting in an official capacity for and on their
behalf: specifically, officials of NNPC, NAPIMS. the PP, a senior official in the executive
branch of the Federal Government of Nigeria, as well as officials of SPDC. Each of the
government officials was a “foreign official” as that term is defined and used in the FCPA (15
U.S.C. Sections 78dd-1(f)(1)(A) and 78dd-2(h)(2)(A)). The Nigerian government officials are
collectively referred to herein as the “Nigerian officials.”

COUNT 1

Conspiracy to Violate the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(18 U.S.C. § 371)

THE CONSPIRACY

16. Paragraphs 1 through 15 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.
17. From at least in and around December 2003, through in and around March 2005,
n the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere, the defendant,
JASON EDWARD STEPH,
did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the object of the conspiracy, and knowingly

combine, conspire, confederate and agree with Doe 1, Consultants | and 2, Brown, GCCB



Employees 1 and 2, and others, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses
against the United States, that is, willfully to make use of the mails and means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to
pay, and authorization of the payment of any money, or offer, gift, promise to give, and
authorization of the giving of anything of value to any foreign official and any foreign political
party for purposes of: (i) influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official and party in his
and 1ts official capacity; (ii) inducing such foreign official and party to do and omit to do acts in
violation of the lawful duty of such official and party; (iii) securing an improper advantage; and
(1v) inducing such foreign official and party to use his or its influence with a forcign government
and instrumentalities thereof to affect and intluence acts and decisions ot such government and
instrumentalities, in order to assist WGI, WII, the Willbros Nigerian Subsidiaries, and the joimt
venture consortium comprised of WWA/WNL and GCCB, and others, known and unknown to
the Grand Jury, in obtaining and retaining business for and with, and directing business to, WGI,
WIL, the Willbros Nigerian Subsidiaries, and the joint venture consortium comprised of
WWA/WNL and GCCB, all in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78dd-1(a),
78dd-2(a) and 78dd-2(i).

PURPOSE AND OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY

18. The purpose and object of the conspiracy was to make corrupt payments to
officials of NNPC, NAPIMS, a senior official in the executive branch of the Nigerian
government, and to the PP, as well as to officials of SPDC. in order 1o assist in obtaining and
retaining the EGGS business for WGI, WII, the Willbros Nigerian Subsidiaries and the joint

venture consortium comprised of WWA/WNL and GCCB.






